FLEET PRISON

T Fleet Prison was a notorious London prison by the side of the River Fleet.
I : NI The prison was built in 1197, was rebuilt several times, and was in use until
B “| l[nmet| 1844. It was demolished in 1846.

The prison was built in 1197 off what is now Farringdon Street, on the
eastern bank of the River Fleet after which it was named.

It came into particular prominence from being used as a place of reception
for persons committed by the Star Chamber*, and, afterwards, as a debtor's
prison and for persons imprisoned for contempt of court by the Court of
Chancery.

In 1381, during the Peasants' Revolt, it was deliberately destroyed by Wat
Tyler's men*.

A document of 1504 showing King Henry VIl sitting in the Star Chamber and receiving William Warham,
Archbishop of Canterbury, Richard Foxe, Bishop of Winchester, and clerics associated with Westminster
Abbey and St Paul's Cathedral, as well as the Mayor of London.

1 Detail from document connected with the
foundation of Henry VIl's chantry and
~ Alms houses at Westminster.

The King sits in the Star Chamber and
receives the Archbishop of Canterbury
William Warham, Richard Fox, the Bishop
of Westminster and clerics associated
with Westminster Abbey and St. Paul's
Cathedral as well as the Mayor of London.

‘4 (This image is from the collections of The
" National Archives Image no.5063510.
¢ Date: July 16th 1504)

In 1666, during the Great Fire of London,
it burned down on the third day of the
'4_. fire, the prisoners fleeing in the last
¥ moments. After the fire, the warden of
the prison, Sir Jeremy Whichcote,
purchased Caron House in Lambeth in
o., order to house the prison's debtors.
@ Whichcote then rebuilt the prison on the
original site at his own expense.

During the 18th century, Fleet Prison was mainly used for debtors and bankrupts. It usually contained about
300 prisoners and their families. Like the Marshalsea prison, it was divided into a restrictive and arduous
common side and a more open master's side, where rent had to be paid. At that time, prisons were profit-
making enterprises. Prisoners had to pay for food and lodging. There were fees for turning keys and for
taking irons off, and Fleet Prison had the highest fees in England. There was even a grille built into the
Farringdon Street prison wall, so that prisoners might beg alms from passers-by.

But prisoners did not necessarily have to live within Fleet Prison itself; as long as they paid the keeper to
compensate him for loss of earnings, they could take lodgings within a particular area outside the prison
walls called the "Liberty of the Fleet" or the "Rules of the Fleet". From 1613 on, there were also many
clandestine Fleet Marriages. The boundary of the Liberties of the Fleet included the north side of Ludgate
Hill, the Old Bailey to Fleet Lane and along it until the Fleet Market, and ran alongside the prison to Ludgate
Hill.



The Racquet Ground of the Fleet
Prison circa 1808.

The head of the prison was termed
the warden, who was appointed by
letters patent. It became a frequent
practice of the holder of the patent
to farm out the prison to the highest
bidder.

This custom made the prison long
notorious for the cruelties inflicted
on prisoners.

One purchaser of the office, Thomas
; Bambridge, who became warden in
b 1728, was of particularly evil repute.

He was guilty of the greatest
extortions upon prisoners, and, according to a committee of the House of Commons appointed to inquire
into the state of English gaols, arbitrarily and unlawfully loaded with irons, put into dungeons, and
destroyed prisoners for debt, treating them in the most barbarous and cruel manner, in high violation and
contempt of the laws. He was committed to Newgate Prison, and an act was passed to prevent his enjoying
the office of warden.

During the Gordon Riots* in 1780 Fleet Prison was again destroyed and rebuilt in 1781-1782. In 1842, in
pursuance of an Act of Parliament, by which inmates of the Marshalsea, Fleet and Queen's Bench prisons
were relocated to the Queen's Prison (as the Queen's Bench Prison was renamed), it was finally closed, and
in 1844 sold to the Corporation of the City of London, by whom it was pulled down in 1846. The demolition
yielded three million bricks, 50 tons of lead and 40,000 square feet (3,700 m2) of paving. After lying empty
for 17 years the site was sold to the London, Chatham and Dover Railway and became the site of their new
Ludgate station.

Some of the past Wardens of the Fleet prison included Roger de Saperton; 1381, Edmund Haslewood
(d.1548) of Maidwell, John Haslewood (d.1550) of Maidwell, Edward Tyrrell (b 1545), Sir Robert Tyrrell
(b.1582), Thomas Babington of Cuddington, Sir William Babington and Thomas Bambridge 1728.

Notable inmates included in 1601, the poet John Donne was imprisoned until it was proven that his
wedding to Anne Donne (née More) was legal and valid. The priest who married him (Samuel Brooke) and
the man who acted as witness to the wedding were also imprisoned.

Samuel Byrom, son of the writer and poet John Byrom, was imprisoned for debt in 1725. In 1729 he sent a
petition to his old school friend, the Duke of Dorset, in which he raged against the injustices of the system:

Holland, the most unpolite Country in the World, uses Debtors with Mildness, and Malefactors with Rigour;
England, on the contrary, shews Mercy to Murtherers (Murderers) and Robbers, but of poor Debtors
Impossibilities are demanded ... if the Debtor is able to make up his Affairs with the Creditor, how many
Hundreds are afterwards kept in Prison for Chamber-Rent, and other unjust Demands of the Gaolers?

What Barbarity can be greater, than for Gaolers (without any Provocation) to load Prisoners with Irons, and
thrust them into Dungeons, and manacle them, and deny their Friends to visit them, and force them to pay
excessive Prices for their Chamber-Rent, their Victuals and Drink; to open their Letters and seize the Charity
that is sent them; and, in short, by oppressing them by all the Ways that the worst of Tyrants can invent?

Such Cruelty reduces the Prisoners to Despair, insomuch, that many choose rather to shoot, hang or throw
themselves out of the Window, than to be insulted, beaten and imposed upon by the Gaolers ... if every
Gaoler was allowed a yearly Salary ... and no Gaoler suffered, under the severest of Penalties, to take either
Bribe, Fee, or Reward, no Demand for Chamber-Rent, nor any Fees for Entrance or going out of Prison; in
such a Case the Gaols would not swarm as they now do ...

In foreign Countries, where the Romish Religion prevails, what Crowds of People of both Sexes, from the
highest Prince to the meanest Peasant, thrust themselves into Religious Houses ... it is an apparent Injury to
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the Country ... too obvious to be denied, that the many Prisons in England, where so many Thousands of
both Sexes are detained, is a greater Loss and Injury to the King and Country .

Other notable inmates include Christopher Billopp, Commander in the King's Navy and landowner on Staten
Island, New York died in Fleet Prison,1725. John Cleland — 18th century fighter for the freedom of speech in
Great Britain. Edmund Dummer (1651-1713) Surveyor of the Navy, founder of the Royal Navy docks at
Devonport, Plymouth, Member of Parliament for Arundel and founder of the first packet service between
Falmouth, Cornwall and the West Indies, died a bankrupt in Fleet debtors' prison. Sir Richard Grosvenor, 1st
Baronet (founder to the lineage of the Dukes of Westminster) spent almost 10 years in the prison after his
brother-in-law, Peter Daniell, defaulted on his debts in 1629. Grosvenor was imprisoned because he had
stood surety to Daniell. Charles Hall — a notable economic thinker, and early socialist. John Jones of
Gellilyfdy, a Welsh antiquary and calligrapher who, repeatedly imprisoned between 1617 and the 1650s,
used his time in prison to carry out work copying manuscripts. Jgrgen Jgrgensen —a Danish adventurer who
helped build the first settlement in Tasmania and for a short time in 1809 ruled over Iceland, after which he
became a British spy and was later deported to Tasmania. Richard Hogarth, father of the painter and
printmaker William Hogarth and a poor Latin school teacher and operator of an unsuccessful coffee house
for Latin-speakers, was imprisoned for debt in Fleet Prison for five years. Sir Thomas Lodge spent a short
time in the Fleet after declaring himself bankrupt at the end of his term as Lord Mayor of London in 1563.

Richard Onslow* spent a short time in the Fleet after being expelled from the Inner Temple for taking part
in an affray in 1556.

William Paget (actor) - author of "The Humour of the
=4 Fleet", 1749. William Penn - early champion of
democracy and religious freedom, was imprisoned for
debt in 1707. Moses Pitt — publisher who, in 1691,
published The Cry of the Oppressed, a moving appeal on
behalf of himself and all prisoners for debt across the
| nation. George Thomson (physician) (c. 1619 — 1676).
Physician and medical writer, fought for the royalists
under Prince Maurice during the English Civil War.

He was captured by the parliamentary forces at Newbury
1 in 1644, and imprisoned for a time here. Francis Tregian
¢| the Younger. He is reputed to have used his time in prison
to carry out work copying musical manuscripts. Theodore
2l von Neuhoff, the only King of Corsica, in 1756, just before
* his death.

The site of the former Fleet Prison (lower right) on
| Roque's Map of London 1746

FitBidee LUD G

ATE

It is difficult to carry the mind back and imagine this old
London prison, carted away in 1846, a building of nearly seven centuries' existence; yet so it was. Stow, to
whom a century was a mere trifle, traces it back, in his grave, unpretending way, as early as Richard I., who
confirmed the custody of his house at Westminster, and his gaol of the Fleet at London, to Osbert, brother
of William Longshampe, Chancellor of England.

King John, also, says the same writer, handed over the same important, and, as one might perhaps be
allowed to think, somewhat incongruous trusts, to the Archdeacon of Wells. The Fleet is proved to have
been a debtors' prison as early as 1290, but it does not figure largely in London chronicles. It was probably
as disgraceful and loathsome as other prisons of those early days, the gaolers levying fees from the
prisoners, and habeas corpus, that Magna Charta of the unfortunate, being as yet unknown.

The Fleet Prison was formerly held in conjunction with the Manor of Leveland, in Kent, and appears in a
grant from Archbishop Lanfranc as part of the ancient possessions of the See of Canterbury, soon after the
accession of William the Conqueror. That it was burnt by Wat Tyler's men is only another proof of the
especial dislike of the mob to such institutions. In Queen Mary's time some of the Protestant martyrs were
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confined here. Bishop Hooper, for instance, was twice thrust in the Fleet, ‘till the fire at Gloucester could be
got ready to burn his opinions out of him. His bed there is described as "a little pad of straw, with a rotten
covering."

About the year 1586 (Elizabeth) the suffering prisoners of the Fleet petitioned the Lords of the Council on
the matter of certain grievous abuses in the management of the prison —abuses that were, indeed, never
thoroughly corrected. It was the middleman system that had led to many evils. The warden, wishing to earn
his money without trouble, had let the prison to two deputies. These men being poor, and greedy for
money, had established an iniquitous system of bribery and extortion, inflicting constant fines and
payments, and cruelly punishing all refractory prisoners who ventured to rebel, or even to remonstrate,
stopping their exercise, and forbidding them to see their friends. A commission was granted, but nothing
satisfactory seems to have come from it, as we find, in 1593, another groan arising from the wretched
prisoners of the Fleet, who preferred a bill to Parliament, reciting, in twenty-eight articles, the
misdemeanours and even murders of the obnoxious deputy-warden. "The warden's fees in the reign of
Elizabeth," says Mr. Timbs, "were—An Archbishop, Duke, or Duchess, for his commitment fee, and the first
week's 'dyett,' £21 10s.; a lord, spiritual or temporal, £10 5s. 10d.; a knight, £5; an esquire, £3 6s. 8d.; and
even 'a poor man in the wards, that hath a part at the box, to pay for his fee, having no dyett, 7s. 4d.' The
warden's charge for licence to a prisoner 'to go abroad' was 20d. per diem."

The fruitless martyrdoms of Mary's reign had not convinced such narrow-minded bigots as Laud of the folly
of attempting to convert adversaries by force. The Fleet became the special prison for Star Chamber*
offenders, including many dogged Puritan lampooners and many generous champions of liberty, and even
bishops were crammed into the Fleet for unorthodox conduct. Two of the most historical of the theoretical
culprits were Prynne and Lilburne. The former tough old lawyer, for simply denouncing actresses, with a
supposed glance at the Queen of Charles I., was taken from the Fleet to the pillory, to have his nostrils slit
and his ears cut off—a revenge for which the king paid dearly, and gained an inexorable and pitiless foe.

Lilourne, "free-born John," as he was called by the Republicans, was one of the most extraordinary men the
dens of the Fleet ever contained, or the Fleet irons ever cramped. For reprinting one of Prynne's violent
books, honest John, who afterwards fought bravely in support of his opinions at Edgehill and elsewhere,
was whipped at the cart's tail from the Fleet to the pillory at Westminster. Even at the pillory he threw
seditious pamphlets to the populace, and when he was gagged, to prevent his indignant orations, he
stamped, to express his indignation. That pleasant letter-writer, James Howell, was also a prisoner here,
from 1643 to 1647, when his glasshouse schemes failed, and on his return from his business travels in Italy
and Spain. In a letter to the Earl of B—— he describes being arrested by five men armed with "swords,
pistols, and bills;" and he adds, in his usual cheery way, "as far as | see, | must be at dead anchor in this Fleet
a long time, unless some gentle gale blow thence, to make me launch out."

After the abolition of Laud's detestable Star Chamber court, in 1641, the Fleet Prison was reserved for
debtors only, and for contempt of the Courts of Chancery, Common Pleas, and Exchequer. The prison was
burnt down in the Great Fire, when the prisoners were removed for a time to Caroone House, South
Lambeth, the mansion of the Netherlands Ambassador in the reigns of Elizabeth and James.

Howard, the philanthropist, visited the Fleet for the first time in April, 1774, and, in his "State of the Prisons
in England and Wales," speaks of it five years later, as clean and free from offensive odours. The building
was burnt by the rioters in 1780, but was immediately rebuilt on the old plan. The new gaol is thus
described by Howard:—

"At the front," he says, "is a narrow court. At each end of the building there is a small projection, or wing.
There are four floors—they call them galleries—besides the cellar floor, called 'Bartholomew Fair.' Each
gallery consists of a passage in the middle the whole length of the prison, 66 yards; and rooms on each side
of it about 14% feet by 12% and 9% feet high; a chimney and window in every room. The passages are
narrow (not 7 feet wide) and darkish, having only a window at each end. On the first floor, the hall-gallery,
to which you ascend by eight steps, are a chapel, a tap-room, a coffee-room (made out of two rooms for
debtors), a room for the turnkey, another for the watchman, and eighteen rooms for prisoners.

Besides the coffee-room and tap-room, two of those eighteen rooms, and all the cellar-floor, except a lock-
up room to confine the disorderly, and another room for the turnkey, were held by the tapster, John
Cartwright, who bought the remainder of the lease at public auction in 1775. The cellar-floor is sixteen
steps below the hall-gallery. It consists of the two rooms just now mentioned, the tapster's kitchen, his four
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large beer and wine cellars, and fifteen rooms for prisoners. These fifteen, and the two before mentioned
on the hall-gallery, the tapster lets to prisoners for from 4s. to 8s. a week.

On the second floor (that next above the hall-gallery) are twenty-five rooms for prisoners; on the next
gallery, twenty-seven. One of them, fronting the staircase, is their committee-room. A room at one end is an
infirmary; at the other end, in a large room over the chapel, is a dirty billiard-table, kept by the prisoner
who sleeps in that room.

On the highest storey are twenty-seven rooms. Some of these upper rooms—uviz., those in the wings—are
larger than the rest, being over the chapel, the taproom, &c. All the rooms | have mentioned are for
master’s Side debtors. The weekly rent of those not held by the tapster is 1s. 3d., unfurnished. They fall to
the prisoners in succession; thus, when a room becomes vacant, the first prisoner upon the list of such as
have paid their entrance-fees takes possession of it. When the prison was built, the warder gave each
prisoner his choice of a room, according to his seniority as prisoner. If all the rooms be occupied, a
newcomer must hire of some tenant a part of his room, or shift as he can. Prisoners are excluded from all
right of succession to the rooms held by the tapster, and let at the high rents aforesaid. The apartments for
Common Side debtors are only part of the right wing of the prison. Besides the cellar (which was intended
for their kitchen, but is occupied with lumber, and shut up) there are four floors. On each floor is a room
about twenty-four or twenty-five feet square, with a fireplace; and on the sides, seven closets or cabins to
sleep in. Such of these prisoners as swear in court, or before a commissioner, that they are not worth £5,
and cannot subsist without charity, have the donations which are sent to the prison, the begging-box, and
the grate. Of them there were at one of my visits sixteen, at some other times not so many."

In 1726, the evils of farming the Fleet having increased to a disgraceful and perfectly unbearable pitch, a
Parliamentary investigation took place, and Huggins, the farmer, and Bambridge, a low, greedy fellow, who
was his lessee, were tried for murder. The examination of the witnesses led to some ghastly disclosures,
which Hogarth, who was present, immortalised in a picture which at once made him celebrated. The
following extract from the governor's report discloses infamous cruelty: —

"Jacob Mendez Solas, a Portuguese, was, as far as it appeared to the committee, one of the first prisoners
for debt that ever was loaded with irons at the Fleet. The said Bambridge one day called him into the
gatehouse of the prison called the Lodge, where he caused him to be seized, fettered, and carried to
Corbett's the spunging-house, and there kept for upwards of a week; and when brought back into the
prison, Bambridge caused him to be turned into the dungeon called the Strong-room of the Master's Side.

"The place is a vault, like those in which the dead are interred, and wherein the bodies of persons dying in
the said prison are usually deposited, till the coroner's inquest hath passed upon them. It has no chimney
nor fireplace, nor any light but what comes over the door, or through a hole of about eight inches square. It
is neither paved nor boarded; and the rough bricks appear both on the sides and top, being neither
wainscoted nor plastered. What adds to the dampness and stench of the place is its being built over the
common shore, and adjoining to the sink and dunghill, where all the nastiness of the prison is cast. In this
miserable place the poor wretch was kept by the said Bambridge, manacled and shackled, for near two
months. At length, on receiving five guineas from Mr. Kemp, a friend of Solas's, Bambridge released the
prisoner from his cruel confinement. But though his chains were taken off, his terror still remained, and the
unhappy man was prevailed upon by that terror not only to labour gratis for the said Bambridge, but to
swear also at random all that he hath required of him. And this committee themselves saw an instance of
the deep impression his sufferings had made upon him; for, on his surmising, from something said, that
Bambridge was to return again as warden of the Fleet, he fainted, and the blood started out of his mouth
and nose.

"Captain John Mackpheadris, who was bred a merchant, is another melancholy instance of the cruel use the
said Bambridge hath made of his assumed authority. Mackpheadris was a considerable trader, and in a very
flourishing condition, until the year 1720, when, being bound for large sums to the Crown, for a person
afterwards ruined by the misfortunes of that year, he was undone.

In June, 1727, he was prisoner in the Fleet, and although he had before paid his commitment-fee, the like
fee was extorted from him a second time; and he having furnished a room, Bambridge demanded an
extravagant price for it, which he refused to pay, and urged that it was unlawful for the warden to demand
extravagant rents, and offered to pay what was legally due.



Notwithstanding which, the said Bambridge, assisted by the said James Barnes, and other accomplices,
broke open his room and took away several things of great value, amongst others, the king's Extent in aid of
the prisoner (which was to have been returned in a few days, in order to procure the debt to the Crown,
and the prisoner's enlargement), which Bambridge still detains. Not content with this, Bambridge locked
the prisoner out of his room, and forced him to lie in the open yard, called the 'Bare.' He sat quietly under
his wrongs, and getting some poor materials, built a little hut, to protect himself as well as he could from
the injuries of the weather. The said Bambridge, seeing his unconcernedness, said, '—him! he is easy! | will
put him into the Strong-room before to-morrow!' and ordered Barnes to pull down his little hut, which was
done accordingly. The poor prisoner, being in an ill state of health, and the night rainy, was put to great
distress.

Sometime after this he was (about eleven o'clock at night) assaulted by Bambridge, with several other
persons, his accomplices, in a violent manner; and Bambridge, though the prisoner was unarmed, attacked
him with his sword, but by good fortune was prevented from killing him; and several other prisoners coming
out upon the noise, they carried Mackpheadris for safety into another gentleman's room; soon after which
Bambridge, coming with one Savage, and several others, broke open the door, and Bambridge strove with
his sword to kill the prisoner, but he again got away, and hid himself in another room. Next morning the said
Bambridge entered the prison with a detachment of soldiers, and ordered the prisoner to be dragged to the
lodge, and ironed with great irons. On which he, desiring to know for what cause and by what authority he
was to be so cruelly used, Bambridge replied, it was by his own authority, and, —him, he would do it, and
have his life. The prisoner desired he might be carried before a magistrate, that he might know his crime
before he was punished; but Bambridge refused, and put irons upon his legs which were too little, so that in
forcing them on his legs were like to have been broken, and the torture was impossible to be endured.
Upon which the prisoner, complaining of the grievous pain and straightness of the irons, Bambridge
answered, that he did it on purpose to torture him. On which the prisoner replying that by the law of
England no man ought to be tortured, Bambridge declared that he would do it first and answer for it
afterwards; and caused him to be dragged away to the dungeon, where he lay without a bed, loaded with
irons so close riveted, that they kept him in continual torture, and mortified his legs. After long application
his irons were changed, and a surgeon directed to dress his legs; but his lameness is not, nor can be, cured.
He was kept in this miserable condition for three weeks, by which his sight is greatly prejudiced, and in
danger of being lost.

"The prisoner, upon this usage, petitioned the judges; and after several meetings, and a full hearing, the
judges reprimanded Mr. Huggins and Bambridge, and declared that a gaoler could not answer the ironing of
a man before he was found guilty of a crime, but it being out of term, they could not give the prisoner any
relief or satisfaction."

Notwithstanding the judges' remonstrance, Bambridge, cruel and greedy to the last, did not release the
captain from his irons till he had wrung from him six guineas, and indicted him for an imaginary assault. But
the case of Captain David Sinclair, an old officer of courage and honour, was even a worse one. Bambridge,
who disliked his prisoner, had boasted to one of his turnkeys that he would have Sinclair's blood. Selecting
the king's birthday, when he thought the captain would be warm with wine, he rushed into Sinclair's room
with his escort, armed with musket and bayonet, struck him with his cane, and ordered the men to stab the
poor wretch with their bayonets if he resisted being dragged down to the Strong-room. In that damp and
dark dungeon Sinclair was confined, till he lost the use of his limbs and also his memory; and when near
dying he was taken into a better room, where he was left four days without food. In the case of Mr. John
Holder, a Spanish merchant, the prisoner died from an illness produced by horror at the miseries of the
Common Side to which he had been consigned.

Bambridge is said to have been the first gaoler of the Fleet who put mere debtors in irons. The old method
of punishing drunken and disorderly persons in this prison was the stocks; while those who escaped, or
tried to escape, were either set in tubs at the prison gate, or locked in their rooms for several days. This
cruel gaoler seems to have defied even habeas corpus, to have stolen charitable bequests, and bribed or
frightened the lawyers who came to defend ill-used prisoners.

In the case of Sir William Rich, a prisoner who was unable to pay up his arrears for lodging, Barnes, a
turnkey, tried to burn him with a red-hot poker; while the warden threatened to fire at him, struck him with
a stick, and slashed at him with a hanger. Rich was then loaded with heavy irons, thrown into the dungeon
on the master’s Side, and kept there ten days for having, almost unconsciously, in the midst of these
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cruelties, wounded Bambridge with a shoemaker's knife. For an application to the Court of Common Pleas
Sir William had to pay £14, the motion costing him £2 13s. 7d. In another case the prisoner paid, at his
entrance into the Fleet, to judges' clerks, tipstaff, and warden, £45 16s.

Although the rascally Huggins and the wretch Bambridge escaped with a fright and a short imprisonment,
there is no doubt this Parliamentary inquiry eventually led to reforms in this vilely managed prison. A
picture by Hogarth of the Fleet Prison Committee was that painter's first real step to popularity. Sir James
Thornhill probably obtained his son-in-law permission to sketch the scene, of which Horace Walpole says:—

"The scene is the committee. On the table are the instruments of torture. A prisoner in rags, half-starved,
appears before them. The poor man has a good countenance, that adds to the interest. On the other hand
is the inhuman gaoler. It is the very figure that Salvator Rosa would have drawn for lago in the moment of
detection. Villainy, fear, and conscience are mixed in yellow and livid on his countenance. His lips are
contracted by tremor, his face advances as eager to lie, his legs step back as thinking to make his escape.
One hand is thrust precipitately into his bosom, the fingers of the other are catching uncertainly at his
button-holes. If this was a portrait, it is the most striking that ever was drawn; if it was not, it is still finer."

The poet Thomson, in his "Seasons," finds an opportunity to eulogise Mr. Oglethorpe, whose generous
hatred of cruelty led to the formation of the Fleet Committee. With his usual high-toned enthusiasm for
what is good, the poet sings:—

"And here can | forget the generous band

Who, touch'd with human woe, redressive search'd

Into the horrors of the gloomy jail,

Unpitied and unheard, where Misery moans,

Where Sickness pines, where Thirst and Hunger burn,

And poor Misfortune feels the lash of vice?

THE LAST REMAINS OF THE FLEET PRISON.

Howard, the philanthropist, describes the Fleet as an ill-managed prison, even in 1776.

"The prisoners," he says, "play in the courtyard at
-*g’fé- skittles, Mississippi, fives, tennis, &. And not only
the prisoners. | saw among them several butchers
and others from the market, who are admitted
here, as at another public-house. The same may be
een in many other prisons where the gaoler keeps
or lets the tap. Besides the inconvenience of this to
prisoners, the frequenting a prison lessens the
dread of being confined in one. On Monday night
there was a wine club; on Thursday night a beer
club; each lasting usually till one or two in the
1 morning. | need not say how much riot these
€ occasion, and how the sober prisoners, and those
= that are sick, are annoyed by them. "Seeing the
prison crowded with women and children, |
procured an accurate list of them, and found that
on (or about) the 6th April, 1776, there were on
the master’s Side 213 prisoners, on the Common
- : : Side 30, total 243; their wives and children were

A CON =~ C e e ==+ 475."

T,

The Fleet after the fire of 1780 was rebuilt on the old plan. The floors of the cellar, the hall, and the first
storey were stone, and arched with brick. The tapster still had all the cellar-floor. He and several of the
prisoners kept dogs. The billiard and Mississippi tables were, however, put down, and the little code of laws
(referred to by Howard), was abolished.

The "little code of laws," eighteen in number, enacted by the Master-Side debtors, and printed by D. Jones,
1774, established a president, a secretary, and a committee, which was to be chosen every month, and was
to consist of three members from each gallery. These were to meet in the committee-room every Thursday,
and at other times when summoned by the crier, at command of the president, or of a majority of their
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own number. They were to raise contributions by assessment; to hear complaints, determine disputes, levy
fines, and seize goods for payment. Their sense was to be deemed the sense of the whole house. The
president or secretary was to hold the cash, the committee to dispose of it. Their scavenger was to wash the
galleries once a week, to water and sweep them every morning before eight, and to light the lamps all over
the house. No person was to throw out water, &c. anywhere but at the sinks in the yard. The crier might
take of a stranger a penny for calling a prisoner to him, and of a complainant two pence for summoning a
special committee. For blasphemy, swearing, riot, drunkenness, and the committee was to fine at
discretion. For damaging a lamp the fine was a shilling. They were to take from a newcomer, on the first
Sunday, besides the two shillings, "garnish," to be spent in wine, one shilling and sixpence, to be
appropriated to the use of the house. Common-side prisoners were to be confined to their own
apartments, and not to associate with these law-makers.

A WEDDING IN THE FLEET. (From a Print of the Early Part of the Eighteenth Century.)

"The liberty of the rules, and the 'day rules' of the Fleet, may be traced," says Mr. Timbs, "to the time of
Richard Il., when prisoners were allowed to go at large by bail, or with a 'baston' (tipstaff), for nights and
days together. This licence was paid at eightpence per day, and twelvepence for his keeper that shall be
with him. These were day rules. However, they were confirmed by a rule of court during the reign of James
I. The rules wherein prisoners were allowed to lodge were enlarged in 1824, so as to include the churches of
St. Bride's and St. Martin's, Ludgate; New Bridge Street, Blackfriars, to the Thames; Dorset Street and
Salisbury Square; and part of Fleet Street, Ludgate Hill, and Ludgate Street, to the entrance of St. Paul's
Churchyard, the Old Bailey, and the lanes, courts, &c., in the vicinity of the above; the extreme
circumference of the liberty being about a mile and a half. Those requiring the rules had to provide sureties
for their forthcoming and keeping within the boundaries, and to pay a per-centage on the amount of debts
for which they were detained, which also entitled them to the liberty of the day rules, enabling them during
term, or the sitting of the courts at Westminster, to go abroad during the day, to transact or arrange their
affairs, &c. The Fleet and the Queen's Bench were the only prisons in the kingdom to which these privileges
had for centuries been attached." For certain payments favoured prisoners were allowed to be long absent;
and Mr. Dickens tells a story of one old resident, whose heaviest punishment was being locked out for the
night.

The Fleet was one of the prisons burnt by the insane rioters of Lord George Gordon's mob*, in 1780. The
polite rioters sent a notice the night before that the work must be done, but delayed it some hours, at the
request of their restricted friends. The papers of the time mention only one special occurrence during the
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fire, and that was the behaviour of a ringleader dressed like a chimney sweep, whom everyone seems to
have insisted on dubbing a nobleman in disguise; or if not himself a nobleman, says a writer in the
Gentleman's Magazine, an agent, at least, entrusted with his purse, to enlist conspirators and promote
sedition.

This quasi-nobleman had, however, more of foolhardiness than cunning in his composition, for he perched
himself upon the tiles of the market-house, over against the Fleet Prison, as a mark for the soldiers to shoot
at; and as he was on the opposite side of the roof to that where they were posted, at every discharge he
popped up his head and assailed them with tiles, till a ball passing through the roof lodged in his heart and
tumbled him down. He had gold in his pockets, it is true, but he had no commission, nor was he any other
than a pilfering thief, who had well lined his pockets in what to him was a fair way of trade.

In the seventeenth and early part of the eighteenth centuries couples desiring to be secretly married came
to the Fleet and King's Bench prisons, where degraded clergymen could easily be found among the herd of
debtors to perform the ceremony.

In Charles l.'s time a chapel in the Tower (in the White Tower) was a favourite place for clandestine
marriages. On Archbishop Laud stopping these illegal practices, hurried lovers then betook themselves to
one of two churches at the east end of London—St. James's, Duke's Place, or Trinity, in the Minories. A
register of marriages preserved at the former church proves that in twenty-seven years from 1664 nearly
40,000 marriages were celebrated. The fee seems to have fluctuated from between two crowns to a guinea.

The Fleet Chapel was used for debtors' marriages till 1686, when the incumbent of St. James's, Duke's
Place, Aldgate, being suspended by the Commissioners for Ecclesiastical Causes, made it too popular as a
place for secret marriages; and the chapel becoming the haunt of dangerous lookers-on, the degraded
clergymen of the prison and neighbourhood began to celebrate secret marriages in rooms of adjoining
taverns, or in private houses adjacent to Fleet Street, Ludgate Hill, and the Mint, keeping registers, to give
an appearance of legality, and employing touts, to attract and bring in victims.

Mr. J. C. Jeaffreson, in his valuable work, "Brides and Bridals," has taken great pains with this subject of
Fleet parsons, and has ransacked all possible books, old or new, for information about them.

"Scanty particulars," he says, "have been preserved of about forty persons who were keepers of marrying-
houses. Some of these persons were turnkeys, or subordinate officials, in the Fleet Prison, like Bartholomew
Bassett, who was clerk of the Fleet Chapel, and tenant, at the exorbitant rent of £100, of the Fleet cellars,
where marriages were solemnised secretly. It was at Bassett's office, or private chapel, that Beau Fielding
married his first wife, before he fixed his affections on the Duchess of Cleveland. A few of the forty
negotiators in wedlock were women, who had come into possession of a register and marrying business by
inheritance. Most of them, however, had in the first instance been simple innkeepers, supplying the public
with adulterated liquors before they entered the matrimonial trade.

"Standing in the chief thoroughfares or side-alleys and by-yards of the Fleet quarter, their taverns had signs,
some of which still pertain to hostelries of the locality. For instance: 'The Cock,' near Fleet Bridge, and 'The
Rainbow' Coffee House, at the corner of Fleet Ditch, were famous marrying houses, with signs honourably
known at the present day to frequenters of Fleet Street taverns. The 'Cock and Acorn,' the 'Fighting Cocks,'
the 'Shepherd and Goat,' the 'Golden Lion,' the 'Bishop Blaze,' the 'Two Lawyers,' the 'Wheatsheaf,' the
'Horseshoe and Magpie,' the 'King's Head,' the 'Lamb,' the 'Swan,' the 'Hoop and Bunch of Grapes,' were
some of the taverns in or near Fleet Street and Fleet Market, provided with chaplains and chapels, or
private rooms, in which marriages were solemnised on every day and night of the year.

William Wyatt—brother of the notorious and very successful Fleet parson, Walter Wyatt —was landlord,
first of a public-house in Sea Coal Lane, and afterwards of the 'New Market House,' Fleet Lane, in both of
which houses he drove a great trade, and flourished under his stately brother's patronage.

The 'Hand and Pen' was a sign which proved so attractive to the generality of spouses, that after it had
brought success in trade to one house, competitors of the original 'Hand and Pen' public-house adopted it.

Joshua Lilley's 'Hand and Pen' stood near Fleet Bridge; Matthias Wilson's 'Hand and Pen' looked out on the
Fleet Ditch; John Burnford's 'Hand and Pen' kept open door at the foot of Ludgate Hill; and Mrs. Balls had
her 'Hand and Pen' office and registry of marriages within sight of the other three establishments of the



same name. When Ben the Bunter married fair Kitty of Kent Street, he went to the 'Hand and Pen,' and was
fast bound to his damsel by a stout and florid clergyman, for the moderate fee of half-a-crown."

A collection by some enthusiastic collector on this subject exists at the British Museum; he has illustrated a
small poem called "The Humours of the Fleet," with many sketches of the low prison life. The following
guotations paint the Fleet parson, and the noisy touts who wrangled for each new arrival, in bold colours:—

"Scarce had the coach discharged its trusty fare,
But gaping crowds surround the amorous pair;
The busy plyers make a mighty stir,

And whispering cry, 'D'ye want the parson, sir?
Pray step this way—just to the "Pen in Hand,"
The doctor's ready there at your command.'
'This way!' another cries. 'Sir, | declare,

The true and ancient register is here.'

The alarmed parsons quickly hear the din,

And haste with soothing words to invite 'emin.
In this confusion, jostled to and fro,

The enamoured couple know not where to go,
Till slow advancing from the coach's side,

The experienced matron came (an artful guide);
She led the way without regarding either,

And the first parson spliced 'em both together.

k %k %k 3k sk %

Where lead my wandering footsteps now?—the Fleet
Presents her tattered sons in Luxury's cause;
Here venerable crape and scarlet cheeks,

With nose of purple hue, high, eminent,

And squinting, leering looks, now strikes the eye.
B—s—p of hell, once in the precincts called,
Renowned for making thoughtless contracts, here
He reigned in bloated majesty,

And passed in Scottishness and smoke his time.
Revered by gin's adorers and the tribe

Who pass in brawls, lewd jests, and drink, their days;
Sons of low growling riot and debauch.

Here cleric grave from Oxford ready stands,
Obsequious to conclude the Gordian knot,
Entwined beyond all dissolution sure;

A regular this from Cambridge; both alike

In artful stratagem to tye the noose,

While women, 'Do you want the parson?' cry."

A writer (May 29, 1736) gives the following account of what he witnessed during a walk through the Fleet
guarter:—"Gentlemen, having frequently heard of the many abominable practices of the Fleet, | had the
curiosity, on Sunday, May 23rd, to take a view of the place as | was accidentally passing by. The first thing
observed was one J. L., by trade a carpenter (whose brother, it is said, keeps the sign of the Bull and Garter,
cursing and swearing, and raving in the streets, in the time of Divine service, with a mob of people about
him, calling one of his fraternity (J. E.), a plyer for weddings, an informing rogue, for informing against one
of their ministers for profane cursing and swearing, for which he paid three pounds odd money; the hearing
of which pleased me much, since | could find one in that notorious place which had some spark of grace
left; as was manifested by the dislike he showed to the person that was guilty of the profanation of God's
sacred name.

When the riot was dispersed, | walked about some small time, and saw a person exceedingly well dressed in
a flowered morning gown, a band, hat, and wig, who appeared so clean that | took him for some worthy
divine who might accidentally have come out of the country, and as accidentally be making the same
remarks with myself; but upon inquiry, was surprised at being assured that he was one T. C., a watchmaker,
who goes in a minister's dress, personating a clergyman, and taking upon him the name of 'Doctor,' to the
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scandal of the sacred function. He may be seen at any time at the 'Bull and Garter,' or the great 'Hand and
Pen,' with these words written, 'The Old and True Register,' near the 'Rainbow' Coffee House. Please to give
this a place in your paper, and you will not only oblige one of your constant readers, but may prevent many
innocent persons from being ruined. | am, gentlemen, your humble servant, T. L."

The Rev. Alexander Keith*, who had been reader at the Rolls Chapel, and afterwards incumbent of a Mayfair
proprietary chapel, a great place for illegal marriages, on being suspended, excommunicated, and
committed to Fleet Prison for contempt, in 1743, wrote a pamphlet to defend his conduct. The following
extract gives some curious examples of the sort of reckless and shameless marriages that were contracted:

"As | have married many thousands, and, consequently, have on those occasions seen the humour of the
lower class of people, | have often asked the married pair how long they have been acquainted. They would
reply, some more, some less, but the generality did not exceed the acquaintance of a week, some only of a
day—half a day. Another inconveniency which will arise from this Act will be, that the expense of being
married will be so great, that few of the lower class of people can afford it; for | have often heard a Fleet
parson say that many have come to be married when they have had but half-a-crown in their pockets, and
sixpence to buy a pot of beer, and for which they have pawned some of their clothes. | remember, once
upon a time, | was at a public-house at Radcliff, which was then full of sailors and their girls. There was
fiddling, piping, jigging, and eating. At length one of the tars starts up and says, '—— me, Jack, I'll be
married just now; | will have my partner!' The joke took, and in less than two hours ten couple set out for
the Fleet. | stayed their return. They returned in coaches, five women in each coach; the tars, some running
before, others riding on the coach-box, and others behind. The cavalcade being over, the couples went up
into an upper room, where they concluded the evening with great jollity. The next time | went that way, |
called on my landlord and asked him concerning this marriage adventure. He at first stared at me, but,
recollecting, he said those things were so frequent, that he hardly took any notice of them. 'For,' added he,
'it is a common thing, when a fleet comes in, to have two or three hundred marriages in a week's time
among the sailors.' If the present Act, in the form it now stands, should (which | am sure is impossible) be
of any service to my country, | shall then have the satisfaction of having been the occasion of it, because the
compilers thereof have done it with a pure design of suppressing my chapel, which makes me the most
celebrated man in this kingdom, though not the greatest." (Vide Keith's "Observations on the Act for
Preventing Clandestine Marriages.")

"One of these comparatively fortunate offenders against the canons," says Mr. Jeaffreson, whom we have
before quoted, "was the stately Dr. Gaynam, who lived for many years in Bride Lane, and never walked
down Fleet Street in his silk gown and bands without drawing attention to his commanding figure, and
handsome though significantly rubicund face. Nothing ever put the doctor out of humour or countenance.
He was on several occasions required to bring one of his marriage registers to the Old Bailey, and give
evidence in a trial for bigamy; but no gentleman of the long robe ever disturbed the equanimity of the
shameless ecclesiastic, who, smiling and bowing courteously to his questioner, answered, 'Video meliora,
deteriora sequor,' when an advocate asked him, 'Are you not ashamed to come and own a clandestine
marriage in the face of a court of justice?' Even when Walter Chandler beat him with a stick, the doctor took
his caning with well-bred composure. The popular nickname of the doctor declared him the bishop of an
extremely hot diocese, but his manner and language were never deficient in coolness.

"Mr. John Mottram, who bore for his arms a chevron argent, charged, with three roses between three
crosslets, or,' used to marry couples within the walls of the Fleet, not in the chapel of the prison, but 'in a
room of the Fleet they called the Lord Mayor's Chapel, which was furnished with chairs, cushions, and
proper conveniences.' It is recorded in the Weekly Journal, respecting this establishment for weddings, 'that
a coalheaver was generally set to ply at the door, to recommend all couples that had a mind to be marry'd,
to the prisoner, who would do it cheaper than anybody.' Mr. Mottram could afford to be moderate in his
charges, for he transacted an enormous amount of business.

From one of its registers, it appears that he married more than 2,200 couples in a single year. He was a very
obliging gentleman, and never declined to put on a certificate of marriage the date that was most agreeable
to the feelings of the bride. On the occasion of his trial at the Guildhall, in 1717, before Lord Chief Justice
Parker, it appeared that this accommodating spirit had caused him to enrich certificates of his own
penmanship with dates prior to the day of his own ordination. Convicted of solemnising marriages
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unlawfully, Mr. Mottram was fined £200; but this misadventure did not deter him from persevering in his
practices."

Lando was another of these rascals. "Whoever thinks meanly," says the author of "Brides and Bridals," "of
the Reverend John Lando, while Chaplain to His Majesty's ship The Falkland, holds an opinion at variance
with that gentleman's estimate of himself; for Mr. Lando used to inform the readers of newspaper
advertisements that he was a 'gentleman,' who had 'gloriously distinguished himself in the defence of his
king and country,' and that he was 'determined to have everything conducted with the utmost decency and
regularity' at his place of business, 'the New Chapel, next to the china shop, near Fleet Bridge, London. His
charge for officiating at a wedding, and providing the happy couple with a 'certificate and crown stamp,'
was a guinea. He 'was a regular bred clergyman,' in spite of the calumnious insinuations of his rivals; and he
was 'above committing those little mean actions that some men impose on people.' In his zeal for the
welfare of society, he taught young people Latin and French at his chapel three times a week."

But how can we leave this den of misery and infamy without reminding our readers that some years ago a
respectable inhabitant of Goswell Street, through the disgraceful duplicity of a person named Bardell, a
lodging-housekeeper, and the shameful chicanery of two pettifogging lawyers named Dodson and Fogg,
spent many months among the sordid population of the Fleet? Need we say that the stout and respectable
gentleman we refer to was no other than the celebrated Mr. Pickwick? On no occasion has Mr. Charles
Dickens sketched a part of London with more earnest and truthful care.

"These staircases," says Mr. Dickens, describing what first met Mr. Pickwick's eye when he arrived at the
Fleet, "received light from sundry windows placed at some little distance above the floor, and looking into a
gravelled area bounded by a high brick wall, with iron chevauxde-frise at the top. This area, it appeared
from Mr. Roker's statement, was the racket-ground; and it further appeared, on the testimony of the same
gentleman, that there was a smaller area, in that portion of the prison which was nearest Farringdon Street,
denominated and called 'the Painted Ground,' from the fact of its walls having once displayed the
semblances of various men-of-war in full sail, and other artistical effects, achieved in bygone times by some
imprisoned draughtsman in his leisure hours.

"It was getting dark, that is to say, a few gas jets were kindled in this place, which was never light, by way of
compliment to the evening, which had set in outside. As it was rather warm, some of the tenants of the
numerous little rooms, which opened into the gallery on either hand, had set their doors ajar. Mr. Pickwick
peeped into them as he passed along, with great curiosity and interest. Here, four or five great hulking
fellows, just visible through a cloud of tobacco-smoke, were engaged in noisy and riotous conversation over
half-emptied pots of beer, or playing at all-fours with a very greasy pack of cards. In the adjoining room
some solitary tenant might be seen, poring, by the light of a feeble tallow candle, over a bundle of soiled
and tattered papers, yellow with dust, and dropping to pieces from age, writing, for the hundredth time,
some lengthened statement of his grievances, for the perusal of some great man whose eyes it would never
reach, or whose heart it would never touch. In a third, a man, with his wife and a whole crowd of children,
might be seen making up a scanty bed on the ground, or upon a few chairs, for the younger ones to pass
the night in. And in a fourth, and a fifth, and a sixth, and a seventh, the noise, and the beer, and the tobacco
smoke, and the cards, all came over again in greater force than before.

"In the galleries themselves, and more especially on the staircases, there lingered a great number of people,
who came there, some because their rooms were empty and lonesome; others because their rooms were
full and hot; the greater part because they were restless and uncomfortable, and not possessed of the
secret of exactly knowing what to do with themselves. There were many classes of people here, from the
labouring man in his fustian jacket, to the broken-down spendthrift in his shawl dressing-gown, most
appropriately out at elbows; but there was the same air about them all—a listless, jail-bird, careless
swagger, a vagabondish, who's-afraid sort of bearing—which is wholly indescribable in words; but which
any man can understand in one moment if he wish, by just setting foot in the nearest debtor's prison, and
looking at the very first group of people he sees there, with the same interest as Mr. Pickwick did.

"In this frame of mind he turned again into the coffee-room gallery, and walked slowly to and fro. The place
was intolerably dirty, and the smell of tobacco-smoke perfectly suffocating. There was a perpetual slamming
and banging of doors as the people went in and out, and the noise of their voices and footsteps echoed and
re-echoed through the passages constantly. A young woman, with a child in her arms, who seemed scarcely
able to crawl, from emaciation and misery, was walking up and down the passage in conversation with her
husband, who had no other place to see her in. As they passed Mr. Pickwick, he could hear the female sob;
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and once she burst into such a passion of grief, that she was compelled to lean against the wall for support,
while the man took the child in his arms and tried to soothe her.

A chapter on the Fleet Prison would be incomplete without some notice of the more eminent persons who
have been confined there. Among these unhappy illustrious, we may mention the young poet Earl of Surrey,
who describes it as "a noisome place, with a pestilent atmosphere." Keys was sent here, for daring to marry
Lady Mary Grey, sister of the ill-starred Lady Jane; Dr. Donne, the poet, when a private tutor, for secretly
marrying the daughter of his patron, Sir George More, whom he had met at Lord Chancellor Ellesmere's;
Nash, the unhappy poet and truculent satirist, for writing The Isle of Dogs, a libellous play; Sir Robert
Killigrew (1613), for talking to Sir Thomas Overbury, at his prison-gate at the Tower, on returning from a visit
to Sir Walter Raleigh, then also buried alive in the river-side fortress, by James I.; the Dowager Countess of
Dorset (1610), for pressing into the Council Chamber, and importuning King James |. Those sturdy martyrs
of liberty, Prynne and honest John Lilburne, we have already mentioned. Sir Richard Baker, who wrote the
"Chronicle," so much read by country gentlemen in Addison's time, died in the Fleet Prison (1644-5).

Sir Richard was sprung from a good old Kentish family, but had become security for an embarrassed father-
in-law. Wycherly, the rake and wit, was a prisoner in the Fleet seven years, but it did not tame him much.
Francis Sandford, author of a genealogical history of great research, died in the Fleet, in 1693. Penn, the
Quaker founder of Pennsylvania, was living in the Rules of the Fleet, in 1707 (Queen Anne). Penn was at this
time in debt, from a vexatious lawsuit with the executors of a quondam steward. He died in 1718. That
clever impostor, Richard Savage, to be safe from his raging creditors, took lodgings within the Liberties of
the Fleet, his almost tired-out friends sending him an eleemosynary guinea every Monday. Parson Ford, a
convivial dissolute parson, and a relative of Dr. Johnson, died in the Fleet, in 1731, and his ghost, it was
firmly believed, appeared to a waiter, as he was going down to the cellar of the old "Hummums," in Covent
Garden. Robert Lloyd, the schoolmaster friend of Churchill, died in the Fleet in 1764; and here ended a
reckless life, in 1797, Miss Cornelys, the celebrated keeper of masquerade rooms in Soho Square, in
Hogarth's time.

Holborn Valley and Snow Hill prior to the construction of the viaduct.

Among the secret marriages in the Fleet we should not forget Churchill the poet, an abandoned clergyman,
and Edward Wortley Montague. In 1821, says Mr. Timbs, a ton's weight of the Fleet register books (between
1686 and 1754) was purchased by Government, and deposited in the Registry Office of the Bishop of
London, Godliman Street, Doctors' Commons.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

THE STAR CHAMBER

The Star Chamber was an English court which sat at the royal Palace of Westminster, from the late 15th
century to the mid-17th century (c. 1641), and was composed of Privy Counsellors and common-law judges,
to supplement the judicial activities of the common-law and equity courts in civil and criminal matters. The
Star Chamber was originally established to ensure the fair enforcement of laws against socially and
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politically prominent people so powerful that ordinary courts would probably hesitate to convict them of
their crimes. However, it became synonymous with social and political oppression through the arbitrary use
and abuse of the power it wielded.
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Engraving of the Star Chamber, published in "Old and new London" in 1873, taken from a drawing made in 1836

History under the Plantagenets and Tudors

The Court evolved from meetings of the King's Council, with its roots going back to the medieval period.
Contrary to popular belief, the so-called "Star Chamber Act" of King Henry VII's second Parliament (1487)
did not actually empower the Star Chamber, but rather created a separate tribunal distinct from the King's
general Council.

Initially well regarded because of its speed and flexibility, Star Chamber was regarded as one of the most
just and efficient courts of the Tudor era. Sir Edward Coke once described Star Chamber as "The most
honourable court (Our Parliament excepted) that is in the Christian world. Both in respect of the judges in
the court and its honourable proceeding."

Another function of the Court of Star Chamber was to act like a court of equity, which could impose
punishment for actions which were deemed to be morally reprehensible but were not in violation of the
letter of the law. This gave the Star Chamber great flexibility, as it could punish defendants for any action
which the court felt should be unlawful, even when in fact it was technically lawful.

However, this meant that the justice meted out by the Star Chamber could be very arbitrary and subjective,
and it enabled the court to be used later on in its history as an instrument of oppression rather than for the
purpose of justice for which it was intended. Many crimes which are now commonly prosecuted, such as
attempt, conspiracy, criminal libel, and perjury, were originally developed by the Court of Star Chamber,
along with its more common role of dealing with riots and sedition.

The cases decided in those sessions enabled both the very powerful and those without power to seek
redress.

Thus King Henry VIl used the power of Star Chamber to break the power of the landed gentry which had
been such a cause of problems in the Wars of the Roses. Yet, when local courts were often clogged or
mismanaged, the Court of Star Chamber also became a site of remittance for the common people against
the excesses of the nobility.

In the reign of King Henry VIII, the court was under the leadership of Cardinal Wolsey (the Archbishop of
York and Lord Chancellor) and Thomas Cranmer (the Archbishop of Canterbury) (1515-1529). From this
14



time forward, the Court of Star Chamber became a political weapon for bringing actions against opponents
to the policies of King Henry VIII, his Ministers and his Parliament. Although it was initially a court of appeal,
King Henry, Wolsey and Cranmer encouraged plaintiffs to bring their cases directly to the Star Chamber,
bypassing the lower courts entirely.

Under the Stuarts

The power of the Court of Star Chamber grew considerably under the House of Stuart, and by the time of
King Charles I, it had become synonymous with misuse and abuse of power by the King and his circle. King
James | and his son Charles used the court to examine cases of sedition, which meant that the court could
be used to suppress opposition to royal policies. It came to be used to try nobles too powerful to be
brought to trial in the lower court. King Charles | used the Court of Star Chamber as Parliamentary
substitute during the eleven years of Personal Rule, when he ruled without a Parliament. King Charles made
extensive use of the Court of Star Chamber to prosecute dissenters, including the Puritans who fled to New
England. This was also one of the causes of the English Civil War.

On 17 October 1632, the Court of Star Chamber banned all "news books" because of complaints from
Spanish and Austrian diplomats that coverage of the Thirty Years' War in England was unfair. As a result,
newsbooks pertaining to this matter were often printed in Amsterdam and then smuggled into the country,
until control of the press collapsed with the developing ideological conflict of 1640-41.

Abolition and aftermath

In 1641, the Long Parliament, led by John Pym and inflamed by the severe treatment of John Lilburne, as
well as that of other religious dissenters such as William Prynne, Alexander Leighton, John Bastwick and
Henry Burton, abolished the Star Chamber with an Act of Parliament: the Habeas Corpus Act 1640. The
Chamber itself stood until demolished in 1806, when its materials were salvaged. The door was reused in
the nearby Westminster School until destroyed in the blitz, and the historic Star Chamber ceiling, with its
bright gold stars, was brought to Leasowe Castle on the Wirral Peninsula in Merseyside from the Court of
Westminster, along with four tapestries depicting the four seasons.

THE COURT OF CHANCERY

The Court of Chancery originated, as did the other High Courts before 1875, in the Norman curia regis or
King's Council, maintained by most early rulers of England after 1066. Under the feudal system, the Council
was made up of the Monarch, the Great Officers of the Crown and anyone else the Monarch allowed to
attend. Its jurisdiction was virtually unlimited, with executive, judicial and legislative functions. This large
body contained lawyers, peers, and members of the Church, many of whom lived far from London. It soon
became apparent that it was too unwieldy to deal with the nation's day-to-day business. As a result, a
smaller curia was formed to deal with the regular business of the country, and this soon split into various
courts: first the exchequer of pleas, to deal with finance, and then the Court of Common Pleas, to deal with
"common" cases.

The Chancery started as the personal staff of the Lord Chancellor, described as "a great secretarial bureau, a
home office, a foreign office, and a ministry of justice". The earliest reference to legal issues being sent to
him is from 1280, when Edward | of England, annoyed with the number of cases coming to him which could
have been dealt with by other elements of his administration, passed a statute saying that:

“all petitions which touch the Seal shall come first to the Chancellor; and those which touch the Exchequer,
to the Exchequer, and those which touch the Justices, or the law of the land, to the Justices; and those
which touch the Jews, to the Justices of the Jews. And if the affairs are so great, or if they are of Grace, that
the Chancellor and the others cannot do it without the King, then they shall bring them with their own
hands to the King to know his pleasure; so that no Petitions shall come before the King, and his Council, but
by the hands of his said Chancellor, and the other chief ministers; so that the King and his Council may,
without the load of other business, attend to the great business of his Realm, and of other foreign
countries”.

Records show dozens of early cases being sent to the Lord Chancellor and Master of the Rolls, but at the
time the Chancellor had no specific jurisdiction to deal with them; the cases were referred to him only as a
matter of convenience. Under Edward Il the Chancellor dedicated set days to hearing pleas, as documented
in the records of the Parliament of Lincoln in 1315, which also show that some cases were heard by his
personal staff, the Chancery, and not by the Chancellor. By 1320 requests were regularly sent there, and
heard by the judges of the common law courts, with the rules used to settle cases being those of "law or
reason"”, sometimes simply "reason", a far more liberal and adjustable approach than the common law.
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WAT TYLER

Walter "Wat" Tyler (died 15 June 1381) was a leader of the 1381 Peasants' Revolt in England. He marched a
group of rebels from Canterbury to the capital to oppose the institution of a poll tax and to demand
economic and social reforms. While the brief rebellion enjoyed early success, Tyler was killed by officers
loyal to King Richard Il during negotiations at Smithfield, London.

The Peasants' Revolt began in May 1381, triggered by a recently imposed poll tax of 4 pence from every
adult, whether peasant or wealthy. The revolt was not only about money, as the peasants also sought
increased liberty and other social reforms. They demanded that each labourer be allowed to work for the
employer of his choice and sought an end to serfdom and other rigid social demarcation. There were
uprisings across England, with much of the unrest focused on Essex and Kent. The uprising was opposed by
a significant part of English society in those regions, including nobility and wealthy religious establishments.
Many peasants and labourers were inspired by the teachings of John Ball, a radical priest who preached
that all humans should be treated equally, as descendants of Adam and Eve, and who asked "When Adam
delved and Eve span/Who was then the gentleman?"

How Wat Tyler became involved with the revolt is unknown, although a much later sixteenth-century
source indicates that a man of similar name, John Tyler, was its initiator. This account suggests that a poll-
tax collector had indecently assaulted John Tyler's daughter. It is suggested the poll tax collector "pulled up
his daughter’s clothes to see if she was arrived at the age of puberty" In revenge he killed the miscreant
and triggered the insurgency. Regardless of the basis of that story, by June 1381, when groups of rebels
from across the country began a coordinated assault on London, Wat Tyler had emerged as a leader of the
Kentish forces.

On 13 June, the rebels reached the capital and crossed London Bridge. Once in the city, they attacked civil
targets, destroying legal records, opening prisons, sacking homes, and killing individuals they thought were
associated with the royal government. In response, the king, Richard Il (then 14 years old), met with the
rebels on 14 June 1381 and agreed to make many concessions and to give full pardons to all those involved
in the rebellion. While some of the rebels were satisfied by the king's promises and dispersed, Tyler and his
followers were not.

On 15 June 1381, Tyler and his Kentish forces met with King Richard at Smithfield, outside London. There,
Tyler spoke personally with the king and put forward his demands. At first, the meeting seems to have gone
well, with Tyler treating the king in a friendly, if overly-familiar, manner, and Richard agreeing the rebels
"should have all that he could fairly grant". However, tensions quickly rose. According to a contemporary
chronicler, Tyler acted contemptuously, calling for a flagon of water to rinse his mouth "because of the great
heat that he was in" and when he received the water "he rinsed his mouth in a very rude and disgusting
fashion before the King's face". Sir John Newton (a servant of the king) insulted Tyler by calling him "the
greatest thief and robber in all Kent". Tyler attacked Newton, but was restrained and arrested by the Lord
Mayor of London, William Walworth. Tyler then attempted to stab the mayor, who was saved by his armour.
Walworth slashed Tyler across the neck and head with his sword, and another of the king's servants,
possibly Ralph de Standish, stabbed Tyler again, severely wounding him. Tyler managed to ride thirty yards
before he fell from his horse. In the disorder that followed, he was taken to a hospital for the poor, but was
tracked down by the mayor, brought back to Smithfield and publicly decapitated. Tyler's head was placed
atop a pole and carried through the city, then displayed on London Bridge. In the wake of their leader's
death, his followers were driven from London and the movement was shattered. Subsequently Richard I
revoked all the concessions he had made to the rebels and many were hunted down and executed. That
effectively ended the Revolt.

THE GREAT FIRE OF LONDON

The Great Fire of London swept through the central parts of the English city from Sunday, 2 September to
Thursday, 6 September 1666. The fire gutted the medieval City of London inside the old Roman city wall. It
threatened but did not reach the City of Westminster, Charles Il's Palace of Whitehall, or most of the
suburban slums. It destroyed 13,200 houses, 87 parish churches, St Paul's Cathedral, and most of the
buildings of the City authorities. It is estimated to have destroyed the homes of 70,000 of the city's 80,000
inhabitants.
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The death toll is unknown but was traditionally thought to have been relatively small, as only six verified
deaths were recorded. This reasoning has recently been challenged on the grounds that the deaths of poor
and middle-class people were not recorded; moreover, the heat of the fire may have cremated many
victims, leaving no recognisable remains. A melted piece of pottery on display at the Museum of London
found by archaeologists in Pudding Lane, where the fire started, shows the temperature reached 1,250 °C
(2,280 °F).

The Great Fire started at the bakery (or baker's house) of Thomas Farriner (or Farynor) on Pudding Lane
shortly after midnight on Sunday, 2 September, and spread rapidly west across the City of London. The
major firefighting technique of the time was to create firebreaks by means of demolition; this was critically
delayed owing to the indecisiveness of Lord Mayor of London Sir Thomas Bloodworth. By the time large-
scale demolitions were ordered on Sunday night, the wind had already fanned the bakery fire into a
firestorm that defeated such measures. The fire pushed north on Monday into the heart of the City.

Order in the streets broke down as rumours arose of suspicious foreigners setting fires. The fears of the
homeless focused on the French and Dutch, England's enemies in the ongoing Second Anglo-Dutch War;
these substantial immigrant groups became victims of lynching’s and street violence. On Tuesday, the fire
spread over most of the City, destroying St Paul's Cathedral and leaping the River Fleet to threaten King
Charles II's court at Whitehall. Coordinated firefighting efforts were simultaneously mobilising; the battle to
guench the fire is considered to have been won by two factors: the strong east winds died down, and the
Tower of London garrison used gunpowder to create effective firebreaks to halt further spread eastward.

The social and economic problems created by the disaster were overwhelming. Evacuation from London
and resettlement elsewhere were strongly encouraged by Charles Il, who feared a London rebellion
amongst the dispossessed refugees. Despite several radical proposals, London was reconstructed on
essentially the same street plan used before the fire.
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THOMAS BAMBRIDGE

Thomas Bambridge (died 1741) was a British attorney who became a notorious warden of the Fleet Prison
in London. He became warden of the Fleet in 1728. He had paid, with another person, £5000 to John
Huggins for the wardenship. He was found guilty of extortion, and, according to a committee of the House
of Commons appointed to inquire into the state of English gaols, arbitrarily and unlawfully loaded with
irons, put into dungeons, and destroyed prisoners for debt, treating them in the most barbarous and cruel
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manner, in violation of the law. He was committed to Newgate Prison, and an act was passed to prevent his
enjoying the office of warden.

THE GORDON RIOTS

The Gordon Riots of 1780 were several days of rioting in Great Britain motivated by anti-Catholic sentiment.
They began with a large and orderly protest in London against the Papists Act of 1778, which was intended
to reduce official discrimination against British Catholics enacted by the Popery Act 1698. Lord George
Gordon, head of the Protestant Association, argued that the law would enable Catholics to join the British
Army and become a dangerous threat. The protest led to widespread rioting and looting, including attacks
on Newgate Prison and the Bank of England and was the most destructive in the history of London.

Violence started on 2 June 1780, with the looting and burning of Catholic chapels in foreign embassies.
Local magistrates were afraid of reprisals and did not issue the Riot Act. There was no repression until the
Government finally sent in the Army, resulting in an estimated 300-700 deaths. The main violence lasted
until 9 June 1780. The Riots came near the height of the American War of Independence, when Britain, with
no large ally, was fighting American rebels, France, and Spain. Public opinion, especially in middle-class and
elite circles, repudiated anti-Catholicism and lower-class violence, and rallied behind Lord North's
government. Demands were made for a London police force. Painted on the wall of Newgate prison was the
proclamation that the inmates had been freed by the authority of "His Majesty, King Mob". The term "King
Mob" afterwards denoted an unruly and fearsome proletariat.

During the Gordon Riots Fleet Prison was again destroyed and rebuilt in 1781-1782. In 1842, in pursuance
of an Act of Parliament, by which inmates of the Marshalsea, Fleet and Queen's Bench prisons were
relocated to the Queen's Prison (as the Queen's Bench Prison was renamed), it was finally closed, and in
1844 sold to the Corporation of the City of London, by whom it was pulled down in 1846. The demolition
yielded three million bricks, 50 tons of lead and 40,000 square feet (3,700 m2) of paving. After lying empty
for 17 years the site was sold to the London, Chatham and Dover Railway and became the site of their new
Ludgate station.

RICHARD ONSLOW

Richard Onslow (1528 — 2 April 1571) was a 16th-century English lawyer and politician who served as
Solicitor General from 1566 to 1569 and Speaker of the House of Commons. (He was first of two Richard
Onslows and three Onslows to be elected Speaker.) He was born in Shrewsbury, a younger son of Roger
Onslow and his first wife Margaret Poyner.

Onslow entered the Inner Temple in 1545, from which he was briefly expelled in 1556 with several other
members for involvement in an affray but was readmitted after an apology and a spell in the Fleet Prison
and was a Bencher (giving power to call graduates to the bar) in 1559, and Governor from 1564 to 1566. He
was Recorder of London in 1563. From 1557 to 1558 and 1562 to his death in 1571 he was Member of
Parliament for Steyning, a tiny borough in Sussex. In 1559 he was elected MP for Aldborough, north
Yorkshire. His religious sympathies were with the Puritan party, and the Spanish ambassador described him
as a "furious heretic".

In 1566 he was appointed Solicitor General, and was summoned to attend the House of Lords by a writ of
assistance. However, later the same year the Speaker of the Commons died, and the Privy Council chose
Onslow to succeed him. At this period the appointment was effectively a Crown nomination, though
theoretically the House of Commons had a free choice; Onslow was the royal candidate but was opposed,
the only occasion on which this happened during the Elizabethan period. As is the convention, Onslow
spoke in opposition to his own appointment, and argued that the independence of the Speakership was
incompatible with the Solicitor General's oath to the Queen; this gave his critics good excuse to oppose, but
he was nevertheless eventually approved by 82 votes to 70, and became Speaker on 2 October 1566. He
was Speaker until its dissolution in January 1567.

He married Catherine Harding, by whom he had two sons and five daughters, including Edward, ancestor of
the Earls of Onslow, and Cicely, who married Sir Humphrey Winch. Onslow died from 'pestilential fever' at
Harnage near Shrewsbury, after visiting a relative in the town, in April 1571 and was buried in the then St
Chad's Church in Shrewsbury where a tomb monument was erected, that was restored in 1742 by his
descendant, Arthur Onslow, himself a past Speaker. After the fall of the church in 1788 the monument was
moved to the Abbey Church in Shrewsbury, where it remains.

FLEET MARRIAGES
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The earliest recorded date of a Fleet Marriage is 1613 (although there were probably earlier ones), while
the earliest recorded in a Fleet Register took place in 1674. As a prison, the Fleet was claimed to be outside
the jurisdiction of the church. The prison warders took a share of the profit, even though a statute of 1711
imposed fines upon them for doing so: it only moved the clandestine marriage trade outside the prison.
There were, in fact, so many debtors that many lived in the area outside the prison (itself a lawless area
which operated under the "rules of the Fleet"). Disgraced clergymen (and many who pretended to be
clergymen) lived there, and marriage houses or taverns carried on the trade, encouraged by local tavern-
keepers in the neighbourhood who employed touts to solicit custom for them. There were also many clerks
who made money recording the ceremonies. During the 1740s, up to 6,000 marriages a year were taking
place in the Fleet area, compared with 47,000 in England as a whole. One estimate suggests that there were
between 70 and 100 clergymen working in the Fleet area between 1700 and 1753. It was not merely a
marriage centre for criminals and the poor, however: both rich and poor availed themselves of the
opportunity to marry quickly or in secret.

REV. ALEXANDER KEITH (Died 1758)

A Mayfair parson, who was in 1730, appointed to officiate at a newly built chapel in Mayfair, and soon
afterwards commenced to advertise in the daily journals his willingness to celebrate marriages without
either banns or license. Persons of all ranks consequently resorted to Mayfair Chapel, and Keith, as Horace
Walpole says, ‘constructed a very bishopric of revenue.” His irregular proceedings were denounced by Dr.
Trebeck, the rector of St. George's, Hanover Square, who instituted a suit against him in Doctors' Commons.
Keith appeared in person, defended himself at great length, and alleged that he had been admitted to
priest's orders by the Bishop of Norwich, by letters dimissory from the Bishop of London, about 13 June
1731, and that at the time of his nomination he held the appointment of preacher at the Rolls Chapel. The
court gave judgment against him. On 27 Oct. 1742 sentence of excommunication was pronounced against
him by Dr. Edmund Gibson, Bishop of London, Keith impudently retaliating by excommunicating within the
walls of Mayfair Chapel the diocesan, the judge of the court (Dr. Andrews), and the rector of St. George's.
On 24 January 1743 a warrant was issued for Keith's arrest, and in the month of April following he was
committed to the Fleet prison according to one authority, to Newgate according to another, ‘for the
contempt of the Holy and Mother Church.” Though Keith was in prison, marriages were celebrated for him
in a house in Mayfair, which he had fitted up as a chapel, by four Fleet parsons, named respectively Peter
Symson, Francis Devenan, John Grierson, and Walker. The ‘Daily Post’ for 20 July 1744 announced in an
advertisement: ‘To prevent mistakes, the little new chapel in Mayfair, near Hyde Park Corner, is in the
corner house opposite to the city side of the great chapel, and within ten yards of it, and the minister and
clerk live in the same corner house ... and the ... fees ... amount to one guinea as heretofore, at any hour till
four in the afternoon.! In 1749, while Keith was still in prison, his wife died. He caused her body to be
embalmed, and to be kept above ground at an apothecary's shop in South Audley Street until he could
attend her funeral. In this way the body was kept unburied for many months, in order to excite public
curiosity (Daily Advertiser, 23 Jan. 1750). Four of his sons also died while he was in prison, and were buried
at Norwood. The corpse of one who died in 1748 he caused to be carried on a bier by two men from the
Fleet prison to the churchyard of St. Paul's, Covent Garden. On the way thither the bearers halted several
times, in order to enable the assembled crowds to read an inscription upon the coffin-lid referring to Keith's
persecution (Craftsman, 6 Aug. 1748). In 1747 Keith published an uninteresting pamphlet, consisting of
thirty-two pages, entitled ‘Observations on the Act for preventing Clandestine Marriages,” with an engraving
inscribed ‘The Rev. Mr. Keith, D.D.” No copy is in the British Museum. While Keith remained in the Fleet
prison the contemporary gossips declared, without authority, that he had a little chapel there, where in one
year he married thousands of people; and others declared that he had been transported. He died in the
Fleet prison on 13 Dec. 1758, after an imprisonment lasting nearly fifteen years.

Compiled by Norman Bambridge May 2020.
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